This case arises out of an accident that occurred in the City of Charleston, Kanawha

County, West Virginia on May 8, 1999, at the intersection of MacCorkle Avenue and Route 119 (Corridor G), which resulted in the death of Angela Dawn Huffman Anderson and caused serious and permanent injuries to her husband, Robert T. Anderson, Jr. It was a beautiful, sunny day with clear visibility in the early afternoon. Robbie Anderson, who was employed by the State Police, and his wife Angie, who was employed by the Supreme Court of Appeals administrative office, were out for a pleasure trip on their motorcycle. They were accompanied by three motorcyclists: John Mullins carrying a passenger; and Michael Greathouse and Ralph Schoolcraft, off-duty South Charleston police officers without passengers. A City of Charleston ambulance in the process of responding to a request for emergency services came down Corridor G from the direction of Oakwood Road towards the Southside Expressway.¹ As the ambulance approached the intersection, it had the red light, but paused only briefly at the red light before proceeding through the light and into the path of the Anderson motorcycle. The cycle had no choice but to plow into the ambulance that had stopped in the middle of the lane, and the impact of the accident was so great that Angie's helmet and boots flew off as she was thrown from the cycle. Robbie Anderson suffered severe and permanent injuries to his leg. Angie, a beautiful twenty-six-year-old was never conscious again and she died the next day, Mother's Day, May 9, 2005.

In the aftermath of the ambulance striking the Anderson motorcycle, a second motorcycle, driven by John Mullins but weighted down with a passenger, was able to avoid a collision. The third and fourth motorcycles operated by Ralph Schoolcraft and Michael Greathouse without passengers, were unable to avoid the accident and hit the ambulance, which had stopped in their

¹Liability is not an issue in this Petition. If the legal issues presented herein are resolved in Appellant's favor, the Respondents have agreed to pay the amount of proceeds which the Appellant contends remains in the policy.

path in the middle of the road.

On August 20, 1999, a personal injury action was filed by Robert T. Anderson, Jr. in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, and was assigned to Judge Tod J. Kaufman (hereinafter called the Anderson personal injury case). On November 16, 1999, a wrongful death action was filed by the Estate of Angela Dawn Huffman Anderson in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County (hereinafter called the Anderson personal injury case), and was assigned to Judge Herman Canady. On July 19, 2000, the two causes of action were consolidated for trial before the honorable Judge Tod J. Kaufman.

Complaints alleging personal injury causes of action were filed by Mr. Schoolcraft and Mr. Greathouse on or about November 29, 1999 (hereinafter called the Schoolcraft/Greathouse case). A trial was commenced with respect to the Schoolcraft and Greathouse matter in October, 2000, before the honorable Tod J. Kaufman. At the Schoolcraft/ Greathouse trial, the City contended in open court that the accident involving Schoolcraft and Greathouse was a separate occurrence from the Anderson accident, and were granted a motion in limine precluding evidence of any details of the Anderson accident.

Trial of the consolidated Anderson cases was stayed pending resolution of this Petition for Declaratory Relief. Although Judge Kaufman retained the underlying case, he disqualified himself from the Petition for Declaratory Relief concerning the issue of applicable insurance limits and that portion of this matter was transferred to Judge Charles E. King, Jr.

The City of Charleston was insured pursuant to a policy of insurance issued and underwritten by Northland Insurance Company, a Minnesota corporation (hereinafter Northland), and its holding company Jupiter Holdings, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (hereinafter Jupiter).

The subject insurance policy reflects on the declarations page that there is one million dollars (\$1,000,000.00) in coverage. Furthermore, West Virginia Code § 16-4C-16 requires every ambulance service provider to have a policy of insurance in an amount of one million dollars (\$1,000,000.00) per incident.

During the pre-trial proceedings below, however, the City² relied upon a definition of the phrase "ultimate net loss" in the subject insurance policy for the contention that the policy permitted deductions from the coverage limits of all defense costs and attorneys fees. Pursuant to this assertion, the City contended that the policy limits of one million dollars (\$1,000,000.00) had already been reduced to less than seven hundred thousand dollars by the time of the filing of the Petition for Declaratory Relief below, and further contended that the limits continued to be reduced by fees and costs associated with the defense of all of these consolidated cases.

Furthermore, the City also asserted that defense attorneys fees and costs associated with the defense of the companion Schoolcraft/Greathouse litigation which had already been incurred and which continued to be incurred until those proceedings were final also reduced the policy limits of insurance available to the Anderson cases.

In June 1999, Plaintiffs in each of the separate Anderson cases by separate counsel made a demand for policy limits of \$1 million each for a full release of the City of Charleston. That

²As will be more fully set forth herein, the Appellant contends that the attorney for the City, who was selected by the insurer, in fact represented the insurer's interests, not the City's. As this court held in *Shamblin v. Nationwide*, 183 W.Va. 585, 396 S.E.2d 766 (1990), "An insurance company must take into account the interest of its insured and give its insured's interest at least as much consideration as it gives its own interest." That did not occur in this case. These Respondents have been intent from the outset at low-balling these very serious and legitimate claims.

demand was refused. Thereafter, the matters were voluntarily mediated and the Plaintiff estate and personal injury claim made a joint demand of policy limits of \$1 million, thus providing the insurer the opportunity to achieve a full settlement and release of any and all claims in the above-styled actions against its insured, the City of Charleston.³ Such demand for policy limits was also refused.

On the 12th day of July, 2002, both of the Anderson Plaintiffs out of desperation that there would be no insurance proceeds left if they continued without getting these legal issues resolved, settled and resolved their cases against the City by the payment of the amount of the insurance proceeds which the City and the Respondent insurance entities contended remained in the policy at that time, which was a total of \$688,361.86.⁴ By such settlement and release, however, the Appellant wrongful death estate of Angela Dawn Huffman Anderson, reiterated and preserved its claim that the City's policy contained \$1 million in coverage and retained the right to seek declaratory relief against the city's insurers for remaining proceeds of the \$1 million policy.⁵ The Respondents agreed that, should the Appellant prevail in its Petition for Declaratory Relief, such remaining proceeds would be paid to the wrongful death estate. The Appellant claims that \$311,638.14 currently remains in the total available proceeds of the policy. The City claimed

³At this time, the City should have been clamoring for its insurer to pay the policy limits demand in order to insulate itself from responsibility for an excess verdict. However, as will be demonstrated, counsel for the city actually asserted positions throughout which were in the insurer's best interests rather than the city's.

⁴The City and its insurer derived this number by deducting the defense fees and costs associated with both the Greathouse/Schoolcraft case and the Anderson personal injury and Anderson wrongful death cases which had been incurred to that point.

⁵The personal injury cause of action accepted the settlement amount as full settlement of its claims and waived its right to pursue additional relief.

then, and the Respondent insurance companies claim now that, after the deduction of the defense legal costs and fees, this settlement exhausted all available insurance proceeds.⁶ It was further agreed by the parties that the wrongful death estate would continue to pursue the remaining amount of the \$1 million policy limits that such estate contended were required by law to be in force and effect, and would seek by means of a Petition for Declaratory Relief to have the insurance policy limits clarified by a judicial ruling to be \$1 million, or in the alternative, if a court determined that the amount of the policy limits was less than \$1 million by virtue of the eroding defense costs concept, then to have the policy reformed to provide \$1 million in policy limits. This is the appeal by the denial by the Circuit Court of such relief.

The Statute

West Virginia Code, 16-4C-16(1) Limitation of liability; mandatory errors and omissions insurance requires every emergency medical service provider to obtain a policy of insurance insuring the person or entity and every employee, agent or servant thereof, against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising from any error or omission in the provision of emergency medical services in an amount no less than one million dollars per incident. The precise language is as follows:

West Virginia Code 16-4C-16(1) provides:

⁶The record reflects that on May 17, 2001, the City's attorney contacted the undersigned counsel for the estate and left a voice mail to the effect that counsel for Schoolcraft and Greathouse had filed an amended motion for a new trial on the basis that the City had withheld evidence. Counsel for the City indicated that, should such Motion for a New Trial be granted, that the danger that there would be even less policy limits "changes dramatically." In consequence, he urged settlement within the ever-decreasing amount he contends are left in the policy on the basis that limits would further dwindle if the new trial is awarded. The Appellant, Angie's beneficiaries, fearing that nothing would be left, settled with the City and reserved the right to pursue the Respondents.

(1) Every person, corporation, ambulance service, emergency medical service provider, emergency ambulance authority, emergency ambulance service or other person which employs emergency medical service personnel with or without wages for ambulance service or provides ambulance service in any manner, shall obtain a policy of insurance insuring the person or entity and every employee, agent or servant thereof, **against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising from any error or omission in the provision of emergency medical services as enumerated by this article, in an amount no less than one million dollars per incident.** Provided, That each emergency medical services agency having less than this amount on the first day of January, one thousand nine hundred ninety-six, shall obtain the policy of insurance required in this section in the amount of one million dollars on or before the first day of March, one thousand nine hundred ninety-seven. New applicants shall obtain the insurance required in this section in the amount of one million dollars. Emphasis added.

The Appellant contends that, by virtue of this statute, West Virginia law mandated that the City of Charleston have an insurance policy in the amount of \$1 million, and that such statutorily-required policy limits are applicable to the Anderson accident. The Respondent denies that Code 16-4C-16(1) is applicable to the insurance coverage at issue in this case on the basis of their contention that the Appellant's decedent did not die as a result of any error or omission in the provision of emergency medical services.

The Insurance Policy

The following policy language is important to the resolution of the coverage issues:

Section III - AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

INSURING AGREEMENTS

A - AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY: Underwriters hereby agree, subject to the limitations, terms and conditions hereunder mentioned, to indemnify the Assured for all sums which the Assured shall be obligated to pay by reason of the liability imposed upon the Assured by law or assumed by the Assured under contract or agreement, for damages direct or consequential, and expenses, all as more fully defined by the term 'ultimate net loss', arising out of any occurrence on account of bodily injury including death at the time resulting therefrom, suffered or alleged to have been

suffered by any person or persons (excepting employees of the Assured injured in the course of of their employment), and/or damage to or destruction of property or the loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any automobile. (See *Northland Insurance Companies policy of insurance issued to the City of Charleston, Policy No. AA101234 at page 19*).

Further, Paragraph 17 of the section of the policy entitled "GENERAL CONDITIONS," provides:

17. ULTIMATE NET LOSS:

For Section I, "ultimate net loss" means the loss sustained by the Assured after making deductions for all recoveries and salvages.

For Section II, the term "ultimate net loss" shall mean the total sum which the Assured becomes obligated to pay by reason of personal injury or property damage claims, either through adjudication or compromise, after making proper deductions for all recoveries and salvages.

"Ultimate net loss" shall also include hospital, medical and funeral charges and all sums paid as salaries, wages, compensation, fees, expenses for doctors and nurses, also legal costs, premiums on attachment of appeal bonds, expenses for lawyers and investigators and other persons for litigation, settlement, adjustment and investigation of claims or suits which are paid as a consequence of any occurrence covered hereunder.

The salaries, expenses or administrative costs of the Assured or the Assured's employees or the Third Party Claims Administrator are not to be included within the meaning of the "ultimate net loss" and are to be paid by the Assured.

For Section III, the term "ultimate net loss" shall mean the total sum which the Assured becomes obligated to pay by reason of bodily injury or property damage claims, either through adjudication or compromise, after making proper deductions for all recoveries and salvages.

"Ultimate net loss" shall also include hospital, medical and funeral charges and all sums paid as salaries, wages, compensation, fees, expenses for doctors and nurses, also law costs, premiums on attachment of appeal bonds, expenses for lawyers and investigators and other persons for litigation, settlement, adjustment and investigation of claims or suits

which are paid as a consequence of any occurrence covered hereunder. Emphasis added.

The salaries, expenses or administrative costs of the Assured or the Assured's employees or of the Third Party Claims Administrator are not be included within the meaning of the "ultimate net loss" and are to be paid by the Assured. Emphasis added.

For Sections IV, V, and VI, "ultimate net loss" means the total sum which the Assured becomes obligated to pay by reason of claims, either through adjudication or compromise, after making proper deductions for all recoveries and salvages. *(See Northland Insurance Companies policy of insurance issued to the City of Charleston, Policy No. AA101234 at pages 41 & 42).*

The portions of the policy language which are emphasized become particularly relevant to the issues presented by both sides in this case.

Additional Facts

The Appellant maintains that the record demonstrates that the subject insurance policy is a boilerplate policy sold to municipalities all over the country, and thus is not custom-designed. Further, an affidavit in the record from Greg Burton, who served as City Manager of the City of Charleston at the time the subject insurance policy was acquired, and who as in fact the person in charge of acquiring the coverage, reflects that he negotiated and approved the contract of insurance at issue. Mr. Burton's affidavit further reflects that he simply requested the amount of coverage sought (\$1 million) and that at no time did he discuss or negotiate on behalf of the City any specific provisions or specific language to be included in the policy. His affidavit further reflects that there were no negotiations or discussions as to any specific needs of the City of Charleston, nor as to any custom provisions specifically tailored to the City's needs. Mr. Burton believed that he was acquiring for the City the \$1 million in coverage required by law. See

Exhibit 2, affidavit of Greg Burton, attached hereto and made a part hereof.

Appellant's Arguments

In the Petition for Declaratory Relief, the Appellant made the following arguments to the Circuit Court and reiterates them herein:

(1.) West Virginia Code 16-4c-16(1) which requires \$1 million in coverage is applicable to the instant case and an eroding limits policy does not comply with the statutory requirement . (2) Even if the statute is found not to be applicable to the instant case, the language of the policy does not support the Respondents' contentions as to eroding limits. (3) Nor is the policy custom-designed, as that term is defined by case law, so as to defeat the requirements of Code 16-4c-16(1). (4) Further, any ambiguity in the policy language must be construed against the Respondents. (5) A contract of insurance marketed or underwritten to a public entity which does not comport with legal requirements must be reformed to do so. (6) Even if the Respondents prevail on their insurance limits arguments, the Anderson accident must be deemed a separate occurrence for purposes of insurance coverage. (7) There is a strong duty on an insurer to defend its insured which negates generally the concept of defense attorneys fees diminishing policy limits policies; and even more strongly, in the specific context of policies marketed to or underwritten for public entities. (8) Insurance policies which provide for policy limits to be eroded by defense fees and costs in violation of statutory minimum limits are against the public policy of West Virginia. (9) Insurance policies with eroding limits are against the public policy of West Virginia favoring settlement of cases. (10) Even if eroding limits policies are lawful in this context, there is no unilateral right of an insurer to determine amount by which policy limits to be reduced. (11) In

West Virginia, a Plaintiff's right to make a policy limits demand has particular legal significance, and an eroding limits policy precludes the exercise of this right.

The Lower Court Order

The Circuit Court determined that the Appellant was not entitled to declaratory relief and set forth the following reasons:

- a. West Virginia Code 16-4C-16(1) regulates persons and entities who provide emergency medical services, and does not regulate insurance companies, and is therefore not applicable to the Northfield respondents.
- b. West Virginia Code 16-4C-16(1) is not applicable because the Appellant's claim did not arise from an error or omission in the provision of emergency medical services;
- c. Even if West Virginia Code 16-4C-16(1) did apply to Northfield - and it does not - the Northfield Policy does not violate that statute;
- d. The events of May 8, 1999 were a single occurrence, and therefore, the Northfield Policy Limits must be applied accordingly;
- e. The Appellant's public policy arguments are without merit;
- f. Because the Northfield Policy was a custom-designed policy issued to a governmental entity, liability under the Policy could be permissibly limited notwithstanding West Virginia Code 16-4C-16(1); and
- g. The Appellant has established no basis to grant declaratory relief against Northland Insurance Company or Jupiter Holdings, Inc.

Assignments of Error

1. The Court erred in finding that West Virginia Code 16-4C-16(1), which requires that each emergency services provider have \$1 million in insurance coverage, imposes no legal obligation upon the insurance company Respondents to sell, market and/or underwrite to the City of Charleston an insurance policy covering its emergency service providers which comports with that statute.
2. The Court erred in holding that the claim of the Appellant was not a "loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising from any error or omission in the provision of emergency medical services" by the City of Charleston.

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