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

<sup>8</sup> With regard to errors or omissions liability, a leading treatise opines:

Errors and omissions policies form the equivalent to malpractice insurance for occupations other than those in the legal and medical fields. Such policies are designed to insure members of a particular professional group from liability arising out of special risks such as negligence, omissions, mistakes and errors inherent in the practice of their profession, . . . .

No matter the occupation of the insured, the terms of the policies are quite similar, requiring that an act or omission arise out of the provision of “professional services” in the context of the particular occupation of the insured. Accordingly, while certain general principles can be gleaned which apply to all such policies, the determination of what constitutes a “professional service” is unique to each insured profession.

Couch on Insurance, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed., § 131:38 at p. 131-49 (2000).

**assumed by the Assured under contract or agreement, for damages direct or consequential, and expenses, all as more fully defined by the term “ultimate net loss,”** arising out of any occurrence on account of bodily injury including death at any time resulting therefrom, suffered or alleged to have been suffered by any person or persons (excepting employees of the Assured injured in the course of their employment), and/or damage to or destruction of property or the loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any automobile.

*Appellant’s Circuit Court Memorandum*, Exhibit G, ALA Policy at p. 19 (*emphasis added*). The ALA policy states that Northfield’s limit of liability for such coverage “shall not exceed the difference between . . .” One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) per “each and every loss and/or occurrence, combined single limit, . . . ultimate net loss, and an underlying Self-Insured Retention (S.I.R.) of . . .” Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) per “each and every loss and/or claim and/or occurrence ultimate net loss . . .” *Appellant’s Circuit Court Memorandum*, Exhibit G, ALA Policy at pp. 2-3.

For purposes of Section III of the ALA policy, the term “ultimate net loss” is defined as:

. . . the total sum which the Assured becomes obligated to pay by reason of bodily injury or property damage claims, either through adjudication or compromise, after making proper deductions for all recoveries and salvages.

“Ultimate net loss” shall also include hospital, medical and funeral charges and all sums paid as salaries, wages, compensation, fees, expenses for doctors and nurses, also **law costs, premiums on attachment of appeal bonds, expenses for lawyers and investigators and other persons for litigation, settlement, adjustment and investigation of claims or suits which are paid as a consequence of any occurrence covered hereunder.**

The salaries, expenses or administrative costs of the Assured or the Assured’s employees or of the Third Party Claims Administrator are not to be included within the meaning of “ultimate net loss” and are to be paid by the Assured.

*Appellant’s Circuit Court Memorandum*, Exhibit G, ALA Policy at pp. 41-42 (*emphasis added*). In short, by virtue of the definition of “ultimate net loss,” the coverage for such matters as “expenses

for lawyers” is encompassed within the listed ALA policy limits, not in addition to those limits.

With regard to the defense of claims, *Appellant’s Brief* reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of Northfield’s role. The ALA policy was issued on the condition that the City retain Willis Corroon Administrative Services, Inc., to serve as its “service organisation” (i.e., third-party administrator). *Appellant’s Circuit Court Memorandum*, Exhibit G, ALA Policy at p. 5. The ALA policy further provides:

[Willis Corroon] shall perform the following duties:

- (a) Investigate and settle or defend all claims or losses – it is understood that, when so requested, [Willis Corroon] will afford [Northfield] **an opportunity to be associated with** the [City] and [Willis Corroon] in the defence or control of any claim, suit or proceeding.
- (b) Maintenance of accurate records of all details incident to payments.
- (c) Furnish monthly claims records on an approved form.

The acceptance of these services **to the conclusion of all liabilities hereunder** shall be a **condition precedent to any liability which may attach to [Northfield]** in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Insurance.

*(emphasis added)*. These provisions are factually and legally significant. Based on these provisions, the primary responsibility for the defense or settlement of claims against the City lay with Willis Corroon and the City, while Northfield’s right was limited to “associating” with them upon request. In fact, the use of Willis Corroon’s services – including its investigation, settlement and defense of claims – “to the conclusion of all liabilities” was a condition precedent to any obligation of indemnity owed by Northfield. The consequence of these provisions is that the right to select defense counsel was held by Willis Corroon and the City, not Northfield. *See Attachment I, Affidavit of Randy Robinson.*

### **III. RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The Circuit Court correctly recognized that W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1) does not apply to insurers, but rather, applies only to persons and entities (such as the City of Charleston) who employ emergency medical service personnel.
2. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that the Appellant's claim did not arise from an "error or omission in the provision of emergency medical services."
3. The Circuit Court correctly applied the unambiguous language of the ALA policy issued by Northfield to the City.
4. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1) does not prohibit eroding policy limits and that the City, as the insured, could have procured additional insurance had it wished to do so.
5. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that the event which regrettably claimed the life of the Appellant's decedent and caused injury to other motorcyclists was a single occurrence.
6. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that the ALA policy issued by Northfield to the City was a "custom-designed" policy as contemplated by West Virginia law.
7. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that Appellant's unsupported public policy arguments were without merit.
8. The Circuit Court correctly denied the Appellant's request for declaratory relief, which was without any adequate or sufficient basis in fact or in law.

### **IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON**

1. The law presumes that two (2) separately incorporated businesses are distinct entities. *See, e.g., W.Va. Highlands Conservancy, Inc. v. Public Service Comm'n*, 206 W.Va. 633, 640, 527 S.E.2d 495, 502 (1998), *citing United States v. Bestfoods*, 524 U.S. 51, \_\_\_, 118 S.Ct. 1876, 1888, 141 L.Ed.2d 43, \_\_\_ (1998).
2. Every person, corporation, ambulance service, emergency medical service provider, emergency ambulance authority, emergency ambulance service or other person which employs emergency medical service personnel with or without wages for ambulance service or provides ambulance service in any

manner, shall obtain a policy of insurance insuring the person or entity and every employee, agent or servant thereof, against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising from any error or omission in the provision of emergency medical services as enumerated in this article, in an amount no less than one million dollars per incident, . . . W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1).

3. Where the provisions of an insurance policy contract are clear and unambiguous they are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation; rather, full effect will be given to the plain meaning intended. Syl. Pt. 1, *Russell v. State Automobile Mut. Ins. Co.*, 188 W.Va. 81, 422 S.E.2d 803 (1992).
4. An insurance contract should never be interpreted so as to create an absurd result. Syl. Pt. 2, *D'Annunzio v. Security-Connecticut Life Ins. Co.*, 186 W.Va. 39, 410 S.E.2d 275 (1991).
5. "Emergency medical services" means all services which are set forth in Public Law 93-154, "The Emergency Medical Services Systems Act of 1973," and those included in and made a part of the emergency medical services plan of the department of health and human resources inclusive of, but not limited to, responding to the medical needs of an individual to prevent the loss of life or aggravation of illness or injury. W.Va. Code § 16-4C-3(d).
6. An important factor in evaluating whether circumstances constitute one (1) or more "occurrences" is the relative closeness of the connection in time and space between cause and result. See, e.g., *Shamblin v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 175 W.Va. 337, 341-43, 332 S.E.2d 639, 642-44 (1985).
7. West Virginia Code § 29-12A-16(a) (1992) conveys broad discretion to both the West Virginia State Board of Risk and Insurance Management, as well as governmental entities, with regard to the type and amount of insurance to obtain. Consequently, when an insurer issues a custom-designed insurance policy to a governmental entity pursuant to the *Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act*, West Virginia Code §§ 29-12A-1 to -18 (1992), that entity may incorporate language absolutely limiting liability under the policy, even if such language would otherwise violate the provisions of West Virginia Code § 33-6-31(b)(1996). Syl. Pt. 1, *Trent v. Cook*, 198 W.Va. 601, 482 S.E.2d 218 (1996).

**V. DISCUSSION OF LAW AND NOTE OF ARGUMENT**

**A. The Dismissal of Northland and Jupiter Was Appropriate**

*Appellant's Brief* and the entire record in this matter are devoid of any facts that suggest, much less demonstrate, that the Appellant is entitled to declaratory relief (or any relief) from Northland or Jupiter. The law presumes that two separately incorporated businesses are distinct entities. *See, e.g., W.Va. Highlands Conservancy, Inc. v. Public Service Comm'n*, 206 W.Va. 633, 640, 527 S.E.2d 495, 502 (1998), *citing United States v. Bestfoods*, 524 U.S. 51, \_\_\_, 118 S.Ct. 1876, 1888, 141 L.Ed.2d 43, \_\_\_ (1998). There is no evidence of record that should cause this Court or any court to disregard the corporate identity and form of the respective Appellees in this instance. The erroneous, non-record representations of Appellant and her counsel are manifestly insufficient to overcome the presumption of distinct entities. Appellant has not assigned as error the Circuit Court's determination that the dismissal of Northland and Jupiter was warranted and has offered no argument to the contrary. Furthermore, Northland has been dismissed via a December 18, 2001 *Agreed Order*. Accordingly, to the extent that *Appellant's Brief* may relate to any claim applicable to Northland or Jupiter, all requests for relief against those entities should be affirmed because it is uncontested that their dismissal by the Circuit Court was plainly right. Otherwise, Northland and Jupiter adopt the arguments advanced below on behalf of the City's true insurer, Northfield.<sup>9</sup>

**B. West Virginia Code § 16-4C-1, et seq., Does Not Regulate the Conduct of Insurers**

Appellant seeks to impose an obligation upon Northfield that properly lies with Northfield's insured, the City of Charleston. West Virginia's Emergency Medical Services Act of 1996

---

<sup>9</sup> *See also Northland Insurance Company and Jupiter Holdings, Inc.'s Motion to Dismiss* served in the civil action below on September 18, 2001 and a related *Reply* served therein on November 6, 2001.

(hereafter, “the Act”) is set forth in W.Va. Code § 16-4C-1, *et seq.* In seeking declaratory relief, the Appellant relies upon the Act, and more specifically, W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1), which states in pertinent part:

Every person, corporation, ambulance service, emergency medical service provider, emergency ambulance authority, emergency ambulance service or other person **which employs emergency medical service personnel** with or without wages for ambulance service **or provides ambulance service** in any manner, **shall obtain** a policy of insurance insuring the person or entity and every employee, agent or servant thereof, against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising from any error or omission in the provision of emergency medical services as enumerated in this article, in an amount no less than one million dollars per incident,

....

*(emphasis added)*. Those persons and entities who provide emergency medical services and who purchase the required insurance are immune from liability in excess of their policy limits in the absence of intentional or malicious conduct. W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(2).

Northfield is an insurance company. It does not “employ emergency medical service personnel” or “provide ambulance services.” Northfield is not in the position of obtaining an insurance policy for such risks. Rather, it is in the business of underwriting and issuing insurance policies. More specifically, Northfield is an eligible, non-licensed excess and surplus line insurer as contemplated by W.Va. Code § 33-12-10 (1957), W.Va. Code § 33-12-12 (1957) and the current W.Va. Code § 33-12C-1, *et seq.* (2003). In short, the arguments in *Appellant’s Brief* regarding these issues are without merit because they are entirely predicated on W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1) and alleged public policy arguments relating to the same. Because Northfield is not subject to that statute, the Appellant is not entitled to relief from Northfield or any of the Northfield Appellees.

The duty to comply with W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1) by obtaining proper insurance lies with

entities that “**employ** emergency medical service personnel” or “**provide** ambulance services” – in this instance, the City of Charleston. (*emphasis added*). Similarly, the duty to furnish proof of such insurance to the Insurance Commissioner pursuant to W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(3) expressly lies with the “person or entity required to **obtain**” such a policy. (*emphasis added*). Nothing in W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1) imposes a duty upon Northfield to market or sell an insurance policy with specific policy limits. Assuming, *arguendo*, that the Northfield policy had limits which did not meet the requirements of W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1), nothing prevented the City from purchasing additional insurance from Northfield or some other insurer so as to meet those requirements. Nothing in the *Appellant’s Brief* and nothing in the evidence of record suggests that Northfield assumed a duty to provide legal advice to the City or any other insured with regard to compliance with W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1) or any other rule, regulation or statute.

The obligation to obtain insurance imposed by West Virginia Code § 16-4C-16(1) stands in sharp contrast with the obligation to provide uninsured motorist insurance imposed by W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(b). Unlike W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1), the provisions of W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(b) generally place the obligation to provide proper uninsured motorist coverage on the seller, not the purchaser, of an automobile liability insurance policy, stating:

Nor shall any such policy or contract **be so issued or delivered** unless it shall contain an endorsement or provisions undertaking to pay the insured all sums which he shall be legally entitled to recover as damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle, within limits which shall be no less than the requirements of section two, article four, chapter seventeen-d of this code,<sup>10</sup> . . . .

---

<sup>10</sup> Although not relevant to the matters at issue herein, Northfield observes that there is no obligation to sell uninsured motorist coverage when the purchaser of an automobile liability policy is a government entity such as the City of Charleston. West Virginia Code § 17D-6-1 provides that “[t]his chapter shall not  
(continued...)

(emphasis added). Cf. also W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(a) (“No policy or contract . . . shall be issued or delivered by any insurer licensed in this state upon any motor vehicle . . . , unless . . . .”) Because of the important contrast in how the Legislature imposed obligations regarding the purchase of errors or omissions liability insurance relating to the provision of emergency medical services, as set forth in W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1), versus the obligations regarding the issuance and delivery of automobile liability insurance, as described in W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(b), Appellant’s reliance on *Bell v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 157 W.Va. 623, 207 S.E.2d 147 (1974) and other law pertaining to minimum coverages for automobile liability is simply misplaced and misleading.

Because W.Va. Code § 16-4C-16(1) does not regulate the conduct of Northfield, the Appellant’s request for declaratory relief was properly denied. Because the Circuit Court’s decision was plainly right, this appeal should be dismissed as having been improvidently granted, or alternatively, the Circuit Court’s April 8, 2004 *Order* should be affirmed.

**C. The Plain, Unambiguous Policy Provisions Must Be Applied and Not Construed**

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